#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC05-1732 Lower Tribunal No.: 16-1999-CF-1156-AXXX

JAMES BELCHER,

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher J. Anderson, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0976385 645 Mayport Road, Suite 4-G Atlantic Beach, FL 32233 (904) 246-4448 Court-Appointed Attorney for Appellant

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a trial Court order denying Appellant's Rule 3.851, Fla.

R. Crim. P. Initial Motion for Post-Conviction Relief in a death penalty case. For ease of reading, that denied motion is referred to simply as the "subject motion." This appeal contains references to the record on appeal created for the subject post-conviction motion proceedings. They are designated by the letter "R" followed by the applicable record volume number, followed by the applicable record page numbers which are stamped at the bottom of each page of the record on appeal.

The appeal also contains references to the prior record of the original jury trial proceedings. They are designated by the letters "TR" followed by the applicable record volume number, followed by either the Court reporter's trial transcript page numbers (top of page) or the clerk's record on appeal page numbers (bottom of page) for non-transcript record documents.

The Defendant James Bernard Belcher is referred to herein primarily by "Defendant," but sometimes also by "Appellant" and "Belcher." The trial Court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the subject motion. R2, p. 268-397. That hearing will be referred to simply as the "evidentiary hearing" in this brief. The trial Court order denying the subject motion (R2, p. 249-266) which is appealed here, is formally titled <u>Order Denying Defendant's Motion for Post Conviction Relief</u> but is hereafter also referred to as simply the subject "denial Order."

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The basic facts of the underlying, first-degree murder case are set forth in this Court's direct appeal Opinion in <u>Belcher v. State</u>, 851 So.2d 678 (Fla. 2003), as follows:

The evidence presented at trial indicated that some time after 10:30 p.m. on January 8, 1996, but before 9 p.m. on January 9, 1996, James Belcher (Belcher) gained access to the victim's townhouse, where she lived alone.(footnote in original). Belcher sexually battered victim Jennifer Embry (Embry) and then killed her by placing his hands around her neck and holding her head under water in the bathtub until she could no longer breathe. At 2 a.m. on January 9, 1996, Maxine Phillips, Embry's next door neighbor, was awakened by loud noises, which came from the common wall she shared with Embry. Phillips described the noises as three hard knocks, as if someone was knocking against the wall.

Medical Examiner Bonifacio Floro testified that the cause of Embry's death was both manual strangulation and drowning. White foam, a product of the mixture of air, water, and mucous in the trachea and bronchial tree, was discovered coming out of Embry's nose and mouth, which indicated to the medical examiner that she was alive and breathing when her head was submerged in the water. Linear bruising on Embry's neck and small internal hemorrhaging on her larynx and hyoid bone were consistent with her being manually strangled while she was still alive. Dr. Floro testified that Embry suffered from the following nonfatal injuries before her death: vaginal injuries consistent with forcible entry by a penis or object; a bruise above the right eyebrow; and a laceration to the right shoulder. He stated that the injuries

were "fresh," indicating that they had been inflicted within twenty-four hours of Embry's death. Dr. Floro found spermatozoa in Embry's vagina and opined that they were "fresh" due to the fact that they still had both heads and tails at the time of the autopsy. Dr. Floro stated that although he could not pinpoint the time of the placement of the sperm, he opined that the condition of the sperm indicated that they had been placed there probably during a sexual act some time between three and six days before the autopsy.2

Detective Robert Hinson, the lead detective assigned to the case, testified that in the bathroom where Embry's body was found, there were some things apparently out of place. He related the following observations of the bathroom: one of the two parallel shower curtain rods was askew and had been propped up against the wall with a towel; one of the two shower curtains was pulled over to one side of the rod; the plastic hook that held up the decorative shower curtain was missing from the wall and found in the bathroom trash can with a piece of wall board still attached; and a strip from the plastic shower curtain liner was found in the bottom of the bathtub.

At the time of the murder, Belcher lived with his sister in a house that was close to the Florida Technical College, where Embry had attended classes until her death. Belcher had twice been observed at Florida Technical College in connection with Embry. Elaine Rowe, an employee at Florida Technical College, testified that in the winter of 1995, a man came into Rowe's office and asked for Embry by name, requesting that Embry be retrieved from her class. Rowe had someone retrieve Embry from her class and testified that to her knowledge, the man and Embry interacted that

day. From a police photo-lineup, Rowe identified Belcher as the man who came to her office, and she identified Belcher in court. Derrick Scott, a classmate of Embry's with whom she had a five-month affair, testified that one day before October of 1995, he walked out of class at Florida Technical College, and observed a man standing by Embry's car, talking with her. Scott identified Belcher from a side-shot photo, displaying a facial scar, as the man he saw talking with Embry by her car. Scott also identified Belcher in court.

On August 4, 1998, Detective Hinson questioned Belcher about Embry's murder. During that interview, Belcher denied (1) ever being at Embry's home, (2) ever having sex with Embry, and (3) ever meeting Embry. After Derrick Scott identified Belcher from a photo, Detective Hinson obtained a search warrant for a sample of Belcher's blood. At the time of the blood draw, Hinson observed that Belcher was nervous and holding a Bible, and that he had urinated on himself.

James Pollack, lab analyst for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), testified that the semen discovered in Embry's vagina and on a bedroom slipper found in the bathroom near her body contained DNA matching Belcher's DNA profile.

The jury found Belcher guilty of first-degree murder on the theory of both premeditation and felony murder, and guilty of sexual battery. After a penalty phase hearing, the jury voted nine to three, in favor of a death sentence. The trial court followed the jury's recommendation and imposed a death sentence for first degree murder and sentenced Belcher to twenty-five years imprisonment for sexual battery. The trial court found that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt the following aggravators in support of Belcher's death

sentence: (1) the defendant has been previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person (great weight); (2) the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of sexual battery (great weight); and (3) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) (great weight). The trial court found that all of the mitigating factors that were presented were proven sufficiently for the Court to give them consideration.

The mitigating factors in this case, all of which were nonstatutory, were: (1) in his relationship with family members, Belcher is considerate, generous and concerned; (2) Belcher loves his parents, brother, sisters, cousins, aunts, and uncles, and they love him; (3) Belcher has not lured anyone else in his family into trouble with the law, he has actually discouraged family members from engaging in criminal behavior and used himself as an example as to why they should not get involved in criminal activity; (4) Belcher has done many kind things for his family; (5) in spite of personal problems, Belcher has encouraged his cousins to do well; (6) Belcher has often been a mentor and a role model of integrity to his relatives; (7) Belcher has maintained contact with relatives even while in prison and continues to provide them advice and counsel, sometimes over the phone; (8) Belcher was raised in a high crime area in New York and was evidently unable to resist the temptations of crime; (9) Belcher was sent to adult prison at an early age and it affected his development; (10) Belcher has never abused alcohol or drugs; (11) Belcher has shown concern for younger inmates at Appalachee Correctional Institute (ACI) and has had a positive effect on their lives by being a tutor, basketball coach, a good listener, a counselor to young inmates, and a peacemaker; (12) Belcher can continue to help other inmates in the future,

as evidenced by those who testified at the penalty phase; (13) Belcher has not been a discipline problem either in prison or in the pretrial detention facility for the period of his recent incarceration; (14) Belcher displayed proper behavior during trial; and (15) Belcher displayed appropriate remorse and genuine concern for the distress caused to his family and the victim's family during the Spencer3 hearing. The sentencing order indicates that the trial court assigned "some weight" to all of the mitigators, except for (11) and (12), to which it assigned "greater weight."

(Id., p. 678-684)

Following this Opinion, the Defendant filed his subject motion for post-conviction relief. R1, p. 7-56. This subject motion raised fourteen claims, thirteen of which were "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims. There was an additional claim brought pursuant to <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) but it was abandoned after further investigation. Following a lengthy evidentiary hearing, the trial Court entered its order denying the subject motion ("denial order"). R2, p. 249-398. This appeal followed.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Defendant suffered a great many types of ineffective assistance of counsel. These errors and oversights and omissions, considered both individually and cumulatively, denied the Defendant effective representation and violated Defendant's rights to a fair jury trial and due process of law. The trial Court erred in not granting the subject motion for post-conviction relief.

### **ARGUMENT FOR EACH ISSUE**

Issue 1: The trial Court erred in not finding that the Defendant suffered from ineffective assistance of trial counsel in connection with trial counsel's failure to object and request a curative instruction in response to the State's voir dire comments to jurors misstating the State's burden of proof and misstating the Defendant's presumption of innocence

Standard of review: For "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims like this one, the appellate courts engage in a *de novo* review because the claim is a mixed question of law and fact. Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 1999). The appellate Courts give deference to trial court factual findings that are based on competent, substantial evidence while applying the *de novo* standard of review to both the "deficient performance" and "prejudice" prongs of test of ineffective assistance set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Julien v. State, 917 So.2d 213 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005).

*Preservation:* This claim/issue was raised in the Defendant's subject motion. R1, p. 9-11. The trial Court heard testimony on this claim at the evidentiary hearing (R2, p. 345-346 and 372-373) but ultimately denied it. R2, p. 251.

Analysis: The prosecutor's statements to the jury which the Defendant complains of here appear in the record of prosecutor Bernardo De La Rionda's initial *en masse*, *voir dire* questioning of the entire panel of prospective jurors as follows:

Mr De La Rionda: Do all of you understand that as we sit here today the defendant, Mr. Belcher, is presumed to be innocent? Do all of you understand that?

(Affirmative response from prospective jurors)

Mr. De La Rionda: Okay. Do you understand that does not mean he is innocent? It means he is presumed to be innocent *until you hear the evidence to the contrary*. Can all of you agree with that?

Affirmative response from prospective jurors.

(TR11, p. 81, emphasis Appellant's)

This indicated to the jurors that the state could overcome the presumption of innocence and meet its burden of proof of guilt merely by presenting *any* evidence of guilt, however weak. In other words, the prosecutor effectively

converted the heavy burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt into a much lighter burden of merely presenting some evidence of guilt. There was no objection and no request for a curative instruction by Defendant's trial counsel.

Defendant's two trial counsel were asked about this at the evidentiary hearing. Assistant Public Defender Alan Chipperfield was unsure of whether such comments by the State were objectionable. R2, p. 345-346. Assistant Public Defender Lewis Buzzell did not object because Mr. Chipperfield was handling this part of the trial. Mr. Buzzell felt that the above quote had been taken out of context and the entire context was a correct statement of the law. R2, p. 372-373.

Admittedly, the trial Court Judge did correctly instruct the jury on the Defendant's presumption of innocence and States burden of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt immediately after guilt-phase closing arguments. R18, p. 1382-1385. However, this correct statement of the Defendant's presumption of innocence and the State's burden of proving guilty beyond a reasonable doubt came too late. The jurors had already heard and evaluated all the evidence while they were under the influence of the false notion that the Defendant's presumption of innocence was lost the instant that the State produced *any* evidence of guilt, however, weak.

In denying Defendant's "ineffective assistance of counsel" claim on this

ground, the trial Court indicated that it had found that the two defense lawyers' explanations were more credible than the Defendant's allegations. The trial Court also found that "the statement actually made by the State was in itself not objectionable." R2, p. 251. For the reasons stated in this argument for this issue, such findings are not supported by the record evidence.

Proof beyond a reasonable doubt of each element of the offenses charged is required by the "due process" clauses of the 5<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and is required by Article 1, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution. As noted by the United States Supreme Court in In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970) the reasonable doubt standard of criminal law has constitutional stature; due process protects accused against conviction except upon proof beyond reasonable doubt of every fact necessary to constitute the crime charged" *accord*, <u>Parker v.</u> State, 795 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001).

A direction to the jury which has effectively lessens this burden of proof is unconstitutional. Schad v. Arizona, 501 U.S. 624 (1990). The State has the burden of proving each and every element of an offense to the exclusion of and beyond a reasonable doubt. Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim) 3.7. Jurors are required to be instructed that "... if, after carefully considering, comparing and weighing all the evidence, there is not an abiding conviction of guilt, or, if, having a conviction,

it is one which is not stable but one which wavers and vacillates, then the charge is not proved beyond every reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty because the doubt is reasonable." Id. Jurors are also instructed that "A reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the defendant may arise from the evidence, conflict in the evidence or the lack of evidence. Id. *See also* State v. Wilson, 686 So.2d 569 (Fla. 1996).

There is a presumption that a person charged with a crime is innocent. That presumption follows the accused through each step of trial until the presumption is overcome by evidence establishing guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Pinder v. State, 53 So.2d 639 (Fla. 1951). The jury must weigh the evidence against the defendant to determine whether the presumption of innocence has been overcome. Oglesby v. State, 235 So.2d 558 (Fla. 1945) emphasis Defendant's. Care must be taken to assure that the presumption of innocence follows the accused through trial and is overcome only by the evidence and not the improper remarks of counsel. Sanchez v. State, 182 So.2d 645 (Fla. 1938). Although Defendants asserting certain defenses like the entrapment defense have the "burden of producing evidence" of such defense, (See, U.S. v. Brown, 43 F.3d 618 (3<sup>rd</sup> Cir. 1995)), the State's burden of proving guilt of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt never shifts away from the state. Boling v. State, 297 So.2d 317 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974).

By failing the assure that the jury was properly instructed, and by failing to assure that the jury followed the law correctly, trial counsel was ineffective and the Defendant was denied a fair jury trial in violation of the 6<sup>th</sup> and 14<sup>th</sup> Amendments to the U.S. Constitution and in violation of the Article 1, Sections 16 and 22 of the Florida Constitution. The trial Court erred in not finding ineffective assistance of counsel on this ground.

Issue 2: The Trial Court Erred in Not Finding that the Defendant Received Ineffective Assistance of Counsel in Connection With Allowing Comments Denigrating the Role of Jury

Standard of review: For "ineffective assistance of counsel" claims like this one, the appellate courts engage in a *de novo* review because the claim is a mixed question of law and fact. Stephens v. State, 748 So.2d 1028, 1032 (Fla. 1999). The appellate Courts give deference to trial court factual findings that are based on competent, substantial evidence while applying the *de novo* standard of review to both the "deficient performance" and "prejudice" prongs of test of ineffective assistance set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Julien v. State, 917 So.2d 213 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2005).

Preservation: This claim/issue was raised in the Defendant's subject motion. R1, p. 11-12. The trial Court held, at the hearing conducted pursuant to

Huff v. State, 622 So.2d 982 (Fla. 1993), and without any opposition by any counsel, that this issue could be resolved exclusively from the record, without additional evidence. In its subject denial Order, the trial Court analyzed the record of earlier jury trial proceedings and gave its reasons for not finding ineffectiveness on this ground. R2, p. 252.

Analysis: During voir dire, the prosecutor informed prospective jurors that a jury death recommendation carries "great weight" but Judge Dearing actually imposes the death penalty. (TR11, p. 126)

Awhile later in voir dire, the prosecutor told the jury that, although judge imposes sentence, jury's death/life recommendation carries "great weight." The prosecutor further told the prospective jurors that "the death penalty is the law" rather than telling the prospective that they would decide between alternate sentences of life or death. (TR11, p.146)

The prosecutor further minimized the sentencing role of the jury later on, by saying that the "judge actually does the imposition of the sentence . . . but you do

tender to the Court a recommendation and that recommendation does carry great weight." (TR13, p.451)

Again, in closing argument, the State improperly diminished the

responsibility of the jury in this death-penalty case by telling them "I look forward to you – to speaking to you again in that second part, the death penalty part. We're not there yet. This part deals with the guilt of this defendant. (TR18, p. 1355).

Defendant's trial counsel did not object or request curative instructions for any of these improper prosecutor statements.

In its subject denial order, the trial Court found that there had been no ineffectiveness of counsel because the trial Court announced to the prospective jurors at the beginning of voir dire that the Court was required to assign great weight to the jury life/death recommendation, and could not override it unless reasonable men would not differ on the need to depart from the jury recommendation. R2, p. 252, citing TR 6, p. 36 and TR8, p. 411. The trial Court also explained in its subject denial Order that the penalty phase instruction was the Florida standard jury instruction, approved by the Courts in Thomas v. State, 838 So.2d 535 (Fla. 2003) and Combs v. State, 525 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1988) as complying with the requirements of Caldwell, infra. R2, p. 252. Defendant candidly admits, in this appeal brief, that the trial Court also told the jury in final, penalty phase, pre-deliberation instructions that the Court gives their recommendation "great weight." TR22, p. 1828-1829. However, the Defendant's contends that such correct statement of the law came too late, after the jury had already heard all

of the guilt-phase and penalty-phase evidence under the influence of the incorrect descriptions of the law.

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