IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES BELCHER,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC05-1372

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. /

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARMAINE M. MILLSAPS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0989134

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

⁹ The Florida Supreme Court has held that prosecutors should not argue prison conditions to support a recommendation of death but these holdings were in the context of arguing against a life sentence, not in the context of cross examination of inmates that the defense presented as mitigation. *Taylor v. State*, 583 So.2d 323, 329 (Fla.1991); *Jackson v. State*, 522 So.2d 802, 809 (Fla.1988). In *Hodges*, the prosecutor stated:

What about life imprisonment? What can a person do in jail for life? You can cry. You can read. You can watch T.V. You can listen to the radio. You can talk to people. In short, you are alive. People want to live. You are living. All right? If [the victim] had had a choice between spending life in prison or lying on that pavement in her own blood, what choice would [she] have made? But, you see, [she] didn't have that choice. Now why? Because George Michael Hodges decided for himself, for himself, that [she] should die.

Here, as in *Brown*, there was no deficient performance or prejudice. Both sides presented their respective views of life in prison. Moreover, the trial court found the inmates' testimony as a mitigator. The trial court properly denied this claim following an evidentiary hearing.

based on their prior ruling in the direct appeal finding that the comments were harmless error. Hodges v. State, 885 So.2d 338 (Fla.2004).

ISSUE XI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE CLAIM OF INEFFECTIVENESS FOR FAILING TO PRESENT ADDITIONAL LAY MITIGATION WITNESS AT THE PENALTY PHASE?

Belcher asserts that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call several mitigation lay witnesses in the penalty phase. IB at 60. There was no deficient performance. Trial counsel interviewed most to the witness presented at evidentiary hearing by collateral counsel but decided not to present them because they were not goo witnesses. This is a reasonable strategic decision. There was no prejudice. Defense counsel presented eleven witnesses during the penalty phase, including Belcher's mother, his sister, and two aunts. Counsel presented family mitigation. The trial court properly denied this claim of ineffectiveness following an evidentiary hearing.

Penalty phase

Defense counsel presented eleven witnesses during the penalty phase. Belcher's mother, Earline Floyd, his sister, Lashawn Cason, and two aunts, Betty Burney & Priscilla Jenkins, testified. (T. XX 1559-1589,1599-1611; 1589-1599; 1612-XXI 1627). Stephanie Cook, who was a literacy coordinator at Appalachee Correctional Institution testified that Belcher was her educational aide and encouraged other inmates to participate. (T. XXI 1627-1663). Laura Flowers, who employed at the Duval County Jail, testified that Belcher was not a discipline problem. (T. XXI 1664-1666). Five inmates or former inmates, Robert Hiers, Michael Suggs, Alfonzo Smalls, Dwayne Hayes and Destin Turner, testified that Belcher

- 72 -

helped them in various ways, such as being a tutor and coach while they were in prison. (T. XXI 1666-1762). Belcher waived the right to testify at the penalty phase. (T. XXI 1765-1766).

At the Spencer hearing trial counsel presented three letters. The second letter was from Belcher's father pleading for mercy. (IV 608). The third letter was from Belcher's grandmother asserting that the defendant was getting his life on track. (R. IV 609).

<u>Waiver</u>

As to Deas, the subclaim as to this particular witness was waived at the evidentiary hearing. (EH April at 69; EH May at 55). Belcher's own pleading establishes that this witness was not available to testify. The witness who "declined to testify to avoid opening old wounds in the family" was not available and did not want to testify at trial. A witness must be available to testify to establish ineffectiveness. *Nelson v. State*, 875 So.2d 579, 583 (Fla. 2004) (noting if a witness would not have been available to testify at trial, then the defendant will not be able to establish deficient performance or prejudice from counsel's failure to call, interview, or investigate that witness).

Evidentiary hearing

Postconviction counsel called Wanda Reddick who was the sister of Belcher's fiancee. (EH April 18). Her sister and Belcher had a son. Wanda Reddick testified that Belcher was a father figure to he sister other children who would coach the boys. This was eighteen years ago. (EH April 21). She was not familiar with the

- 73 -

facts of this crime or the prior crimes. (EH April 23). She testified that the facts would not be a factor in her opinion about Belcher being a good role model. She was not know that Belcher was incarcerated in September of 1987 for 15 months. (EH April 23).

Postconviction counsel called Dedrick Baker, who was a one of the sons of her sister that Wanda Reddick referred to, who testified that Belcher was like a father. (EH April at 26-27). Mr. Belcher was a role model to him who helped him develop a work ethic. This was in 1984 or so. Due to Mr. Belcher incarcerations, Dedrick did not see him for substantial periods of time (EH April at 33).

Postconviction counsel called James Belcher, Sr., who is the defendant's father to testify. (EH April at 35). He and Belcher's mother separated when Belcher was five or six. (EH April at 37). Belcher remained with his mother in the projects. (EH April at 39). The project was one of the worst in Brooklyn. Belcher helped his grandmother with the grocery shopping when he moved to Jacksonville. (EH April at 40). He was not mean or hurtful towards people. (EH April at 42). Mr. Belcher was not aware of his son's prior convictions. (EH April at 45). The prosecutor noted that Belcher was convicted of aggravated assault in 1988 and got three years; Belcher was convicted in 1993 and got three years and was then convicted in 1996 and got 20 years. (EH April at 45).

Postconviction counsel called Bernice Johnson, who is the defendant's aunt, to testify. (EH April at 48). He never got into trouble when he lived with her only when he lived with his mother.

- 74 -

(EH April at 49,51). She testified that he was a loving caring child. (EH April at 51).

Postconviction counsel called Harriet Jarrett, who is the defendant's aunt to testify. (EH April at 55). Belcher was like a big brother to her children. (EH April at 57). He was loving and kind.

Postconviction counsel called Helen Deas, who is the defendant's aunt to testify. (EH April at 59). Belcher was a good influence. (EH April at 62). He loved the Lord. (EH April at 63). She did <u>NOT</u> agree that people should be held accountable for their actions. (EH April at 66). They should <u>NOT</u> suffer the consequences. (EH April at 67). She was not aware of Belcher's prior convictions. The facts of the prior violent crimes would not change her opinion of Belcher as a good role model. When the prosecutor explained the facts of one of the prior crimes, which involved the assault of a woman at gunpoint in her home, Ms. Deas testified that this would not change her opinion. (EH April at 67). The conviction in 1976 for robbing a woman and the conviction in 1981 for attempted robbery also would not change her opinion. (EH April at 67).

Trial counsel Alan Chipperfield, referring to his trial file, testified that the decided that Mr. Belcher, Sr. would not be a good witness. (EH May at 23). After talking with Mr. Belcher on four occasions, he noted at the top of his notes "don't use." (EH May at 23-24). Mr. Belcher was "unrealistic" and did not know a lot about his son's life. (EH May at 24). Trial counsel Alan Chipperfield contacted Harriet Jarrett and received a lot of family history from her but she did not know about Belcher later

- 75 -

involvement in crime. (EH May at 25). Trial counsel Alan Chipperfield contacted Helen Deas but decided that she was not a good witness because she was not realistic about the defendant's record. (EH may at 26). Trial counsel Alan Chipperfield contacted Bernice Johnson but decided that she was not a good witness. (EH May at 26). Lewis testified that Mr. Chipperfield handled most of the penalty phase. (EH May at 46). However, he remember that a sister of a lady that Belcher had lived with know a lot of good things but she knew a lot of things that could hurt too. (EH May at 47). Mr. Belcher did not want some of his family involved in this. (EH May at 49).

The trial court's ruling

In ground eleven, Defendant claims ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to call Harriet Jarrett, Michael Deas, Helen Deas, Bernice Johnson, Wanda Reddick, Dedrick Baker, and James Belcher, Sr., as mitigation witnesses at the penalty phase of the trial. Initially, the Court notes that at the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing held on May 6, 2005, Defendant abandoned his allegation that counsel failed to call Michael Deas as a mitigation witness. (Exhibit "B," page 55). At the April 27, 2005, evidentiary hearing, Defendant presented the testimony of Wanda Reddick, Dedrick Baker, James Belcher, Sr., Bernice Johnson, Harriet Jarrett, and Helen Deas as mitigation witnesses counsel should have presented during Defendant's penalty phase. (Exhibit "A," pages 18-25, 26-35, 35-48, 49-54, 55-58, 59-68).

Mr. Chipperfield and Mr. Buzzell testified at the May 6, 2005, evidentiary hearing regarding the instant claim. Mr. Chipperfield testified that based on his conversation with Aretha Jones, Dedrick Baker's mother, he determined that Mr. Baker would not be a good defense witness, but conceded that he did not have any notes indicating that he had spoke to Mr. Baker. (Exhibit "B," page 22). Mr. Chipperfield testified that his notes do not reflect that he ever discussed Wanda Reddick with Ms. Jones or that he was ever even aware of Ms. Reddick as her name is not anywhere in his file. (Exhibit "B," pages 22-23). Mr. Chipperfield testified that he believes he spoke to Mr. Belcher, Sr., twice and based on those discussions he decided that Mr. Belcher, Sr., would not have been a good witness. (Exhibit "B," pages 23-24). Mr. Chipperfield testified that he spoke to Harriet Jarrett and that it was apparent that she did not know about Defendant's involvement in crimes and things like that. (Exhibit "B," page 25). Mr. Chipperfield testified that he spoke to Helen Deas and based on his conversation with her he wrote in his notes "not a good witness." (Exhibit "B," page 26). Finally, Mr. Chipperfield testified that he spoke to Bernice Johnson and he noted that she was "no help" which meant he decided not to call her as a defense witness. (Exhibit "B," page 26).

Mr. Buzzell testified that Mr. Chipperfield handled most of contacting potential mitigation witnesses and deciding who to call. (Exhibit "B," page 46). Mr. Buzzell testified that he recalled counsel talking to a number of Defendant's family members who lived in New York. (Exhibit "B," page 46). Mr. Buzzell testified that some of the family members contacted were not called as defense witnesses because they had information about Defendant's background that would have been harmful to Defendant's case. (Exhibit "B," pages 48-49). Finally, Mr. Buzzell testified that Defendant did not want some of his family to be intimately involved in his case. (Exhibit "B," page 49).

(Exhibit "B," page 49). The Court specifically finds Mr. Chipperfield's and Mr. Buzzell's testimony was both more credible and more persuasive than Defendant's allegations. Laramore v. State, 699 So.2d 846 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997). The Court accepts Mr. Chipperfield's explanation as to why these individuals were not called as defense witnesses. The Court finds that their testimony would have been cumulative to the testimony actually presented during the penalty phase. <u>See Brown v.</u> <u>State</u>, 894 So.2d 137 (Fla. 2004); <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 816 So.2d 1095, 1106 (Fla. 2002) (finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to present evidence in mitigation that was cumulative to evidence already presented in mitigation). Further, the Court finds that defense counsel's estimation of these witnesses was accurate in regard to whether or not they provided any assistance to Defendant. See Hamilton v. State, 875 So.2d 586 (Fla. 2004). Accordingly, Defendant has failed to establish error no the part of counsel or prejudice to his case. Strickland, 466 U.S. 668.

<u>Merits</u>

Counsel does not have to interview everyone that might have some mitigating evidence, does not have to call every mitigating witness available and does not have to present every type of mitigating evidence available. Rather, counsel may properly limit his investigation of mitigating evidence, may properly limit the number of witnesses he presents and may properly decline to present a particular type of mitigating evidence. Defense counsel is not required to present every available mitigation witness to be considered effective. *Bell v. Cone*, 535 U.S. 685, 697-98, 122 S.Ct. 1843, 152 L.Ed.2d 914 (2002) (finding no ineffectiveness where defense counsel presented no mitigating evidence in the penalty phase).

There was no deficient performance. Trial counsel interviewed most of these witnesses and decided that they were not good witnesses. Many were not familiar the defendant's criminal history and were impeachable on that basis. They were, in trial counsel word's, "unrealistic" about the defendant's criminal past. Trial counsel reasonably and understandably chose not to present witnesses who incredibly insisted that the defendant was a good role model in the face of Belcher's repeated convictions and incarcerations. This is sound trial strategy. The soundness of these decisions can be seen from the mirth during the cross examination of Helen Deas in the courtroom at the evidentiary hearing. Deas testified that no amount of facts would change her opinion that Belcher was a good role model. No doubt this testimony would have caused mirth from the jury during the penalty phase as well. The trial court expressly found defense counsel's "estimation of these witnesses was accurate."

Furthermore, presenting these witnesses would have opened the door to the defendant's full criminal history. If defense counsel had presented these witnesses to claim that Belcher was a good role

- 78 -

model, the prosecutor could have impeached them with the defendant's extensive criminal record, including his nonviolent offenses, not merely the prior violent crime used as an aggravator, just as the prosecutor did at the evidentiary hearing. The defendant's full criminal record would have been the price of presenting these incredible witnesses. Choosing not to present these witnesses was a reasonable tactical decision.

There is no prejudice. Belcher's family history was presented at the penalty phase via his mother, his sister and his two aunts. As the trial court found, this mitigation evidence was cumulative to the mitigation evidence actually presented by defense counsel at the penalty phase. *Brown v. State*, 894 So.2d 137, 148 (Fla. 2004) (finding no prejudice where much of this testimony simply corroborated the background information presented at the penalty phase through Brown's mother and Dr. Dee because the additional testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing contributes virtually no new information and is merely cumulative to the testimony presented at trial citing *Gudinas v. State*, 816 So.2d 1095, 1106 (Fla. 2002) (finding that trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to present evidence in mitigation that was cumulative to evidence already presented)).

There was no deficient performance nor prejudice from failing to present Belcher's father at the penalty phase. Belcher's father testimony was presented via his letter at the *Spencer* hearing. (EH May at 24). The substance of his testimony was presented via other family members that the penalty phase. The trial court properly denied the claim following an evidentiary hearing.

- 79 -

ISSUE XII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND NO CUMULATIVE ERROR?

Belcher asserts that the trial court improperly found that there was no cumulative error in this case. IB at 71.¹⁰ There was no error and, hence, no cumulative error. The trial court properly denied the claim of cumulative error.

The trial court's ruling

In Defendant's fourteenth claim, he claims that the cumulative errors of defense counsel raised in the above claims deprived Defendant of his rights to effective assistance of counsel and to a fair trial. As this Court has found the allegations in the above grounds to be without merit, this Court finds that there is no cumulative effect and the instant claim is without merit.

<u>Merits</u>

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